
Meeting of:  Council
Date: Wednesday, 18th December, 2019
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Council Chamber - Town Hall, Rochdale, 

OL16 1AB

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Mayor's Communications 

To receive any communications from the Mayor.

2  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

3  Minutes 3 – 6

To authorise the signing of the Minutes of the meeting of the Council 
held on 16th October 2019.

4  Committee Calendar 2020/2021 7 - 9

To consider a calendar of meetings for the 2020/21 Municipal Year.

5  Corporate Plan 2019 - 2022 10 - 26

To consider recommending the Corporate Plan 2019 – 2022 

6  2020/21 Council Tax Taxbase 27 - 31

To consider the 2020/21 Council Tax Taxbase.

Public Document Pack



7  2020/21 Setting of the Business Rate Base 32 - 36

To consider the 2020/21 Setting of the Business Rate Base.

8  2020/21 Local Council Tax Support Scheme 37 - 52

To consider the 2020/21 Local Council Tax Support Scheme.

9  Council Tax Empty Property Charges 53 - 55

To consider Council Tax empty property charges.

10  Exclusion of Press and Public 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information. 

11  Waste Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement 56 - 79

To consider matters relating to the Waste Levy Allocation Methodology 
Agreement.

To all Members of the Council.

For more information about this meeting, please contact:
Peter Thompson
Governance and Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


COUNCIL

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 16 October 2019

PRESENT: His Worship the Mayor Councillor Billy Sheerin in the Chair 
Councillors Ahmed, Iftikhar Ahmed, Shakil Ahmed, Daalat Ali, Sultan, 
Bamford, Blundell, Boriss, Brett, Burke, Cocks, Dale, Davidson, 
Dearnley, Dutton, Neil Emmott, Susan Emmott, Emsley, 
James Gartside, Hartley, Heakin, Holly, Hornby, Howard, Kelly, 
Martin, Massey, Meredith, Nickson, Nolan, O'Neill, O'Rourke, 
Paolucci, Rana, Rashid, Robinson, Rowbotham, Rush, , Smith, Smith, 
Sullivan, Taylor, Wardle, Wazir, West, Williams, Williams, Winkler, 
Wraighte, Zaheer and Zaman

OFFICERS: David Wilcock – Monitoring Officer
John Addison – Senior Governance & Committee Officer
Michael Brooke – Communications Officer
Elaine Newsome – Head of Governance
Gail Hopper – Director of Children’s Services
John Searle - Director of Economy
Neil Thornton - Director of Resources 
Richard Hall – Mayoral Attendant
Dorothy Johnstone – Civic and Ceremonial Manager
Molly Wood – Governance Support Co-ordinator
Morgan Taylor – Governance Support Apprentice

Also in Attendance:  20 Members of the Public

Apologies for Absence:  
Councillors Besford, Beswick, Farnell, Hussain, Joinson, Malcolm, 
McCarthy, Mir and Nickson.

23 MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS

At the request of the Mayor, Council marked the passing of former Councillor Tony 
Gaskell with a minute silence.

24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

No declarations of interest were made.

25 MINUTES

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 17th July be agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chair.

26 PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS

No public questions were received.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



27 NOTICES OF MOTION

It was MOVED by Councillor Paolucci and seconded by Councillor Sullivan that:

Fireworks are used throughout the year to mark a celebration, as well as the limited 
time around November 5.

But sudden loud bangs and noisy fireworks can cause distress to and disorient 
people who are vulnerable, sick, frail, elderly, have hearing problems or live with long 
term conditions or mental health issues. They can also be a cause of considerable 
risk to pets, livestock, wildlife and Birds. Significant injuries can be caused as animals 
run away or try to hide away. There is also the psychological effect and distress 
caused to animals.

This Council supports the campaign by the RSPCA to restrict the noise levels of 
fireworks and requests that the Chief Executive write to the Government to ask for 
legislation to be amended limiting the noise level of fireworks from 120 decibels to 92 
decibels.

On being put the vote, the motion was carried and it was RESOLVED accordingly.

It was MOVED by Councillor Susan Smith and seconded by Councillor Heakin that:

This Council notes that increasing numbers of children and young people are being 
targeted and exploited by local gangs and further notes that the mental health of 
children and young people in the Borough is still a significant area of concern. We 
firmly believe that one positive way of countering this is to see more investment in 
services for young people.  

This Council requests the Chief Executive write to the Office of Civil Society 
highlighting the need for sustained ring-fenced funding for local authorities so that 
they are able to provide continuing support to combat the issues most affecting 
children and young people.

On being put to the vote the motion was declared to be carried and it was 
RESOLVED accordingly.

It was MOVED by Councillor Blundell and seconded by Councillor O’Rourke that:

This council gives its full support to the trade union Usdaw in its campaign against 
the reduction in rest breaks for 12 hour shift workers at JD Sports’ Kingsway 
distribution centre, Rochdale. 

A grievance signed by over 600 staff has been submitted to management by the 
union, so this can leave no doubt that that staff are up in arms about the company’s 
action. 

The company’s reduction in rest breaks from three per shift to two per shift is in clear 
contravention of the advice of the Health and Safety Executive, which recommends 
more frequent breaks for that type of repetitive, physical work in order to avoid 
fatigue-related accidents. 

Page 4



This council does not want to see several thousand workers at one of Rochdale’s 
major employers put in danger by the imposition of such an ill-judged change to 
terms and conditions of employment. 

Therefore, this council urges JD Sports to open talks with Usdaw immediately about 
the reversal of the cut to rest breaks and the introduction of a new, improved rest 
breaks regime following Health and Safety Executive guidance to protect the well-
being of its staff. 

Furthermore, this council urges JD Sports to agree to Usdaw’s long-standing request 
for the company to enter into a trade union recognition agreement with the union, to 
ensure that fair and proper consultation takes place about any proposed changes to 
staff terms and conditions of employment.

On being put to the vote, the motion was declared to be carried and it was 
RESOLVED accordingly.

28 MEMBERS' QUARTERLY REPORTS

Members presented their Quarterly Reports responding to questions and remarks 
from Members of the Council:-
• The Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance;
• Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources;
• Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing;
• Cabinet Member for Planning, Development and Housing;
• Cabinet Member for Environment;
• Cabinet Member for Regeneration, Business, Skills and Employment;
• Cabinet Member for Children’s Services;
• Cabinet Member for Adult Care;
• Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods, Community and Culture;
• Chair of Heywood Township Committee;
• Chair of Middleton Township Committee;
• Chair of Pennines Township Committee;
• Chair of Rochdale North Township Committee;
• Chair of Rochdale South Township Committee;
• Update on the work of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority.

29 EXTERNAL APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES

Council considered the appointment of external members to Committees.

RESOLVED:

That the following appointments to Committees be approved:

1. The appointment of Craig Ainsworth as Independent Person under the 
Localism Act 2011 for a 2 year term ending in October 2021 with the option to 
extend for a further 2 year period;

2. The appointment of Jaime Sanderson as Independent member of the Audit 
Committee for a 4 year term ending in October 2023;

3. The appointment of John McGrath as Lay Member on the Health Schools and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee for a term of 4 years until October 
2023;

Page 5



4. The appointment of Arron Dixon as Panel Member on the Independent 
Remuneration Committee for a 4 year period to October 2023.

30 DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER SPECIAL URGENCY PROVISIONS

Council considered a report detailing executive decisions taken under special 
urgency provision, by the Chief Executive between October 2018 and August 2019. 
Special urgency provisions were enacted in circumstances where a time limited 
decision was required, but there was not sufficient opportunity to call a meeting of the 
relevant body.

RESOLVED: 

That the decisions taken by the Chief Executive under special urgency provisions be 
noted.

31 CIVIC HONOURS

Consideration was given to a series of nominations for the award of the Freedom of 
the Borough alongside the admittance of former Councillors as Honorary 
Aldermen/Women under Section 249 of the Local Government Act 1972. Any awards 
would be bestowed at an extra-ordinary meeting of the Council.

RESOLVED:

That Mr Paul Ormerod be admitted as a Freeman of the Borough;
That Mr David Kilpatrick be admitted as a Freeman of the Borough;
That Mr Robert Clegg OBE be admitted as an Honorary Alderman;
That Mrs Ann Stott JP be admitted as an Honorary Alderman/Woman;
That Mrs Patricia Colclough be admitted as an Honorary Alderman/Woman;
That Ms Angela Coric be admitted as an Honorary Alderman/Woman.

The meeting closed at 8.56pm

Page 6



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 18th December 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council 
Report Author Elaine Newsome
Public/Private Document Public

Committee Calendar 2020/2021

Executive Summary

1. Council is required to confirm its schedule of meetings for each Municipal 
Year.

The draft calendar seeks to ensure that meetings are scheduled appropriately 
to meet relevant statutory and procedural requirements, and to enable 
effective decision making.

A delegation to the Chief Executive allows for amendments to the calendar in 
accordance with any emerging business need.

Recommendation

2. That the calendar of meetings for the 2020/2021 Municipal Year, as submitted, 
be approved.

That the Chief Executive is given delegated authority, in consultation with 
relevant Committee Chairs or the Leader, to amend the calendar of meetings.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Council is responsible for setting a schedule of meetings to ensure that 
business is transacted in a timely manner.

The delegation allows for amendments to be made, in accordance with 
changing business need, without a formal Council resolution.

Key Points for Consideration

4. The Council’s Procedure Rules requires agreement of an annual schedule of 
meetings for the conduct of formal decision making within relevant statutory 
and procedural requirements. The calendar has been formatted to take 
account of the governance arrangements to be considered by the Council.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



4.1 On occasion, arising from business need, individual meetings may need to be 
rescheduled.

A delegation to the Chief Executive in consultation with relevant
Committee Chairs or the Leader, for Cabinet meetings, enables these 
changes to be made without delay.

Alternatives Considered

Alternative schedules have been considered, but would not support existing 
governance arrangements.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None associated with this report.

Risk and Policy Implications

The calendar of meetings is designed to meet statutory and procedural 
requirements.  There are risks to lawful decision making should a schedule 
not be agreed.

6.

Consultation

7. Not applicable

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. none Not applicable

For Further Information Contact: Elaine Newsome 
Elaine.Newsome@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Page 8



Municipal calendar 2020/21
   2020

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31
We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th

P&LApr
Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su

ELEC GMC MW MWMay ANN
CL

CAB
ICB

Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu
IC P&L MW RTS RTN HT PT MT COR A&G CREJun CAB

ICB

We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr
HSC P&L IC CTC SPB CL RNDS HDS PTDS A&G RTSA MDFSJul VSP

CPB
CAB
ICB

Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo
IC P&L CORAug CAB

ICB

Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We
IC P&L RTS RTN HT PT MT HSC CRESep CAB

ICB

Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa
P&L IC CL HDS RTSA RNDS PTDS MDFSOct VSP

CPB
CAB
ICB

Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo
IC RTS P&L HT RTN PT MT CTC HSC COR CRENov

49
Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th

P&L MDFS CL A&GDec CAB
ICB

HDS
PTDS

RTNA
RTSA

2021
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31

Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su
IC P&L BICJan

VSP
CPB

Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su
P&L BCOR BCAB MT CTC SPD HSC CRE BCLFeb

Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We
IC P&L MDFS A&G CLMar BCL 

(alt)
RTNA
RTSA

HDS
PTDS

CAB
ICB

Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr Sa Su Mo Tu We Th Fr
P&L CPDApr

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31
Data provided ‘as is’ without warranty

           Committee Meeting Key
ANNCL Annual Council 6:00pm (TH)

CL Council 6:00pm (TH)

BCL Budget Council 6:00pm (TH)

CAB Cabinet 6:00pm (N1R)

BCAB Budget Cabinet 6:00pm (N1R)

IC Informal Cabinet 6:00pm (N1R)

BIC    Budget Informal 
Cabinet 6:00pm

(N1R)

COR Corporate O&S 6.00pm (N1R)

BCOR Budget Corp O&S 6:00pm (N1R)

CRE
Communities, 
Regeneration &   Env 
O&S

6:00pm

(N1R)

HSC Health, Schools & care 
O&S 6:00pm (N1R)

A&G Audit & Governance 6:00pm (N1R)

P&L Planning & Licensing 6:00pm (N1R)

HT Heywood Township 6:15pm (PC)

MT Middleton Township 6:00pm (MA)

PT Pennines Township 6:00pm (N1R)

RNDS Rochdale North 
Delegated Sub  6:00pm (N1R)

RSDS Rochdale South 
Delegated Sub 6:00pm (N1R)

RTN Rochdale Township 
North 6:00pm (N1R)

RTS Rochdale Township 
South 6:00pm (N1R)

HDS Heywood Delegated 
Sub-Committee 6:00pm

(PC)

MDFS
Middleton Devolved 
Funding & Services 
Sub-Committee

6:00pm
(ML)

RNDS
RSDS

Rochdale North 
/SouthTownship 
Action and 
Resources Sub 
Committee

6:00pm

(N1R)

PTDS Pennines Delegated  
And Funding Sub 6:00pm

(N1R)

SPB Strategic Place Board  2:00pm
(N1R)

ICB
Integrated 
Commissioning 
Board

3.30pm
(N1R)

CTC Charitable Trust 
Committee 2:00pm

(N1R)

CPB Corporate Parenting 
Board 5:00pm

(N1R)

VSP Voluntary Sector 
Partnership 10.00am

(N1R)

MW Member Workshop 6:00pm (N1R)

(MA) Middleton Arena

(N1R) Riverside

(TH) Town Hall

(ML) Middleton Library

(PC) Phoenix Centre
Alternative venue
See MOD.GOV

P
age 9

http://www.calendarpedia.co.uk/


Report to Council

Date of Meeting 18th December 2019
Portfolio Portfolio Holder for 

Resources
Report Author Caroline Wolfenden
Public/Private Document Public

Corporate Plan 2019 - 2022

Executive Summary

1. The Corporate Plan is a necessary tool for providing strategic 
direction. It sets out our vision for the borough and the Council’s 
contribution in achieving that vision. It enables us to tackle challenges 
and deliver improvements for the people that live, work or visit 
Rochdale, by prioritising the work that we do. It informs the allocation of 
resources so that we deliver the right services and it holds us to account 
in achieving outcomes. It informs other strategies and policies so that 
our day to day business is considered, controlled and our performance 
is effectively monitored.

Recommendation

2. That the Corporate Plan 2019 - 2022 be approved. 

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Corporate Plan replaces the current version (2016 - 2019) to provide 
ongoing strategic direction over the next three years. The Council is responsible 
for approval of the Corporate Plan on recommendation by Cabinet. 

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 The plan sets out the Council’s long term vision and priorities and identifies 
measures of success that are aligned with the strategic partnership outcomes 
identified by the Strategic Place Board (formally the Health and Wellbeing Board)

4.2 The Council vision was agreed by Leadership Team and Cabinet Members as 
part of development sessions with the Local Government Association. It is ‘To 
make our borough a great place to grow up, get on and live well’

4.3 The Council has recently reviewed its values and behaviours which have 
been incorporated into the Chief Executives foreword. These include Passion, 
Pioneering and open and Pride. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



4.4 The Council has reworked its priorities to Prosperous People and Places. 
Prosperity has always been a stand-alone priority, but it is considered that 
prosperity is actually a product of both people and places as a result of the action 
they/we take. This is explained in the Leaders foreword.

4.5 The plan utilises an outcomes based accountability methodology. This 
involves outlining what you want to achieve for the population e.g. the whole 
population or a specific demographic. It also involves identifying indicators, which 
are essentially measures that help to quantify the achievement of an outcome.

4.6 The 10 strategic partnership outcomes, fit with the theme of people (5) and 
place (5) The indicators of success are aligned with the outcomes and are the 
things that will ensure people get a good start, are protected, are resilient, are 
healthy and fulfil their potential and will ensure that the place is age friendly, 
inclusive, welcoming, provides opportunities and supports sustainable growth. 

4.7 The indicators of success will form part of the Leadership Team performance 
dashboard, to support Council Directors in strategically monitoring achievement 
of the vision and priorities over the next 3 years.  The Corporate Plan steers the 
work contained within directorate plans, with progress against actions being 
reported to Scrutiny Committees on a quarterly basis. This enables members to 
monitor operational business throughout the year, ensuring that directorates are 
contributing to meeting the corporate outcomes.

  4.8 The ways of working outlined in the plan are reflective of the need to 
  manage demand on public services and save money and are explicit about the 
  role of different stakeholders in supporting that. They also take account of 
  cooperative principles and the Greater Manchester Model for reforming public 
  services.

4.9 The plan has been informed by research, statistics and consultation to: 

 Acknowledge local challenges and issues
 Create a link with service specific strategies 
 Take account of Labour Group political aspirations 
 Monitor performance against local, regional and national targets

4.10 The plan has been informed by the following documents:

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
 Labour Party Manifesto
 Resident Survey
 Greater Manchester Strategy
 Directorate Plans
 Service Strategies e.g. Locality Plan, Children and Young People Plan
 Leadership Team Performance Dashboard

4.11 The plan has been subject to engagement from Leadership, Elected 
Members, Council Officers and Members of the Public. Feedback has been 
positive with minimal need for amendments since the first iteration. The key 

Page 11



change is an addition to the ‘our ways of working’ section which picks up on the 
climate change emergency. A corporate design has also been applied and some 
of the measures of success have been tweaked for Plain English purposes and 
to ensure that there are SMART. 

Costs and Budget Summary

  5. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is a 5 year plan which sets out our 
commitment to provide services that meet the needs of people locally, and 
represents good value for money. The MTFS links our council vision and priorities 
with forecasted resources and budgets. The Corporate Plan contains the Council’s 
vision and priorities and is aligned with the MTFS. 

Risk and Policy Implications

 6. An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out. In the main, the impact will 
be neutral for most of the protected groups with positive impacts identified for 
age, disability, carers and pregnancy and maternity, where challenges have been 
identified and specific outcomes have been targeted to support these groups. 

Consultation

7. The following consultation has taken place:
Leadership Team - 9th July
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny - 23rd July
Citizens Panel - 6th August
Leadership Team 17th September
Cabinet - 29th October 
Full Council - 11th December 

Uirement 
for public 
consultation

Background Papers Place of Inspection

Not 
applicable

For Further Information Contact: Caroline Wolfenden 
caroline.wolfenden@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 12

mailto:caroline.wolfenden@rochdale.gov.uk


Stage 1: Initial Screening

Directorate: Neighbourhoods

Service: Information, Customers and Communities (Corporate Policy)

Officer completing EIA: Caroline Wolfenden

Other officers involved in completing EIA: Helen Walton

Date of Assessment: 12th September 2019

Name of policy to be assessed: Corporate Plan

Is this a new or revised policy?

New      ☐                    Revised      ☒

What is the purpose of the policy? To set the strategic direction of the Council over the next three years, in 
the form of a vision, priorities, outcomes and measures of success. It replaces the previous corporate plan 
2016-2019.

Are there any other objectives?
The corporate plan will drive the content of directorate plans, ensuring that the action/work the council will 
undertake on an annual basis, contributes to achievement of the corporate plan outcomes and measures. It 
also seeks to support the manifesto pledges outlined by the political leadership. 

Who is likely to benefit from the policy (key stakeholders)? 
Citizens
Residents
Communities
Businesses
Staff
Partners
Third sector
Elected members

Is the policy relevant to equality?

Yes      ☒                    No      ☐

The corporate plan seeks to steer the council in delivering services that meet the current and future needs of 
the people it serves and allocating resources to support delivery of those services. 

What information do you have to inform this initial assessment?

Data that has been considered for this assessment includes:
 Census 2011

https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata/2011censusdatacatalogue

Page 13

https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/2011censusdata/2011censusdatacatalogue


 Rochdale Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2018
http://internet.rochdale.gov.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment

 Local Economy report 2018 - 2019
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-08-28-local-economy-report-2018-19-v1.pdf

Healthy live in Rochdale 2016 - 2018
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s43677/Healthy%20Lifestyles%20Strategy%2016%2018
%20FINAL.pdf

 Resident Survey 2017 
Appendix A

 Performance data 2016 - 2019
Example dashboard at Appendix B

 Council’s Equality data (borough profile and workforce data) 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2018-07-27-equality-and-diversity-data-v1.pdf
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-08-09-employment-equality-report-2018-19-v1.pdf

 Council and CCG joint E&D strategy
Currently in draft version

 2016 Health Related Behaviours survey

 Other key council strategies including:
- Children and Young Peoples Plan 2017 - 2020
- Draft Community Safety Plan 2019 - 2022
- SEND Strategy 2017 - 2019
- Locality Plan 2016 - 2021
- Housing Strategy 2017 - 2022
- Directorate Plans 2019-2020
- Organisational Development Strategy 2017 - 2020
- Age friendly plan
- Relationships Manifesto
- Draft Creative Strategy
- Clean Air outline business case

 Labour Party Manifesto 2019 - 2020
Appendix C

 Greater Manchester Strategy
 https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/media/1084/greater_manchester_summary___full_version.pdf

 Social Mobility Government report
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6422
20/Young_Muslims_SMC.pdf

The JSNA provides demographic data. 26% of the boroughs population is made up of younger people (aged 0-
19). 7% of which are aged 0-4. We have seen a 6.6% increase in this demographic since 2001. 16% is made 
up of people aged 65 and over. There has been an 18.1% increase in this demographic since 2001 and further 
increases are expected as the population ages. There were 34,892 older people in Rochdale in 2016 which is 
forecasted to rise to 41,400 by 2025. It is predicted there will be a fall in those aged 15-29 and a small rise in 
those aged 30-44. It is reported that 27.1% of children are living in low income families and suffering poverty 
and academic achievement level could be better.The 2016 Health Related Behaviours survey presents data 
about life satisfaction in school children - 5% of primary school pupils had low self-esteem scores and 61% of 
secondary school pupils reported they are, in general, ‘quite a lot’ or ‘a lot’ satisfied with their life at the 

Page 14

http://internet.rochdale.gov.uk/joint-strategic-needs-assessment
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-08-28-local-economy-report-2018-19-v1.pdf
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s43677/Healthy%20Lifestyles%20Strategy%2016%2018%20FINAL.pdf
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s43677/Healthy%20Lifestyles%20Strategy%2016%2018%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2018-07-27-equality-and-diversity-data-v1.pdf
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/pdf/2019-08-09-employment-equality-report-2018-19-v1.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1084/greater_manchester_summary___full_version.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1084/greater_manchester_summary___full_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642220/Young_Muslims_SMC.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/642220/Young_Muslims_SMC.pdf


moment. 20% of secondary school pupils reported they had been bullied at or near school in the last 12 
months.High percentages of our older population (ages 50-64) have no qualifications and only 60.1% are in 
employment. It is considered that over 1 million people in England aged 65 and over are persistently or 
chronically lonely. The Corporate Plan takes account of our younger and older age groups, identifying specific 
outcomes that will enable them to start and live well by tackling the issues identified. There will be opportunities 
for all age groups. The plan is focused on delivering outcomes for all residents as well as the specific 
demographics of chilldren and young people and older people.  It is considered the plan will have a positive 
effect in respect of age.

Our population is ethnically diverse. Black and Minority Ethnicity (BME) groups accounted for over 21% of the 
borough population in the 2011 Census. The BME population increased from 13.9% in 2001 to 21.4% in 2011. 
The census revealed that 166,481 people identify as White British which makes up 78.6% of the local 
population. The largest ethnic minority group is Pakistani which makes up 10.5% of the local population 
(22,265), and the second largest is Bangladeshi with 2.1% of the population (4,342). Or Origins tool which 
tracks migration levels and emerging communities shows growth in the Eastern European groups. 36.6% of 
school children are from BME communities and 32.9% of BME births were recorded in 2016. 

In the 2011 Census, over 75% of Rochdale borough residents said they have religious beliefs. Christians form 
the main religious group in the Rochdale Borough with 128,186 (60.6% of the total population) people. The next 
largest religious group is Muslim with 29,426 (13.9%) people in the Borough. The number of residents which 
stated that they had no religion is 40,014 which is 18.9% of residents in the Borough.

A report by the Social Mobility Commission states that Muslims experience the greatest economic 
disadvantages of any group in UK society. They are more likely than non-Muslims to experience 
neighbourhood deprivation, housing, educational and health disadvantage, and unemployment. In particular 
young Muslims who experience educational success do not see this translating into good labour market 
outcomes. The Corporate Plan identifies specific outcomes around cohesion, reducing inequality and giving 
children a good start and opportunities to fulfil their potential as young people. It is considered the plan will 
have a positive effect in respect of race and religion. The Council is developing a joint CCG and LA Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Strategy which will identify specific priorities for advancing equality for all protected 
groups. 

The 2011 Census shows that the number of Rochdale residents reporting a long-term health problem or 
disability is 44,359 (21%). For residents aged 16-64 the rate was lower at 11.3% (23,981). 19.9% of children in 
need in Rochdale have a disability recorded and this compares to 12.7% nationally. Our top 3 key disabilities 
recorded are Autism/Asperger syndrome (32.2%), Mobility (31.1%) and Learning (25.2%). The Corporate Plan 
outlines outcomes for improving health across the whole of the population, to prevent long term conditions It 
also states that people with Disabilities and Special Educational Needs will be supported to know their rights 
and will receive joined up support. It is considered the plan will have a positive effect in respect of disability. 

Rochdale faces a challenge in giving children the best start which is that we have higher levels of smoking in 
mothers and lower breastfeeding prevalence. The corporate plan identifies these as measures of success in 
supporting children to be healthy and as such will work with pregnant and new mothers to address these 
issues. The Council’s relationships manifesto identifies that pregnancy can have an impact on relationships. 
The Corporate Plan acknowledges that families might needs support to stay together through early 
intervention. In that respect it can be said that the Corporate Plan will have a positive impact for the protected 
characteristic of pregnancy and maternity. 

There are more females than males in the borough; with approximately 108,057 women compared with 
103,642 males. The corporate plan identifies outcomes that will be of benefit to all residents as well as specific 
demographic groups, regardless of their sex. As such it can be considered that the impact will be fairly neutral. 
However we do recognise that sexism is deep-rooted within society, and that it often undermines women's 
significant contributions. Women are still expected to take the major responsibility for the family. Most work in 
low paid and low status jobs and they can be victims of crime in respect of domestic violence. The Equality and 
Diversity Strategy will seek to address these types of inequalities and other strategies seek to implement 
services and initiatives to mitigate. 

There are limited accurate statistics available regarding the profile of the lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender (LGBT) population either in the borough or the UK as a whole. The census does not measure how 

Page 15



many residents within the borough identify as transgender, however, the Gender Identity Research and 
Education Society estimates that 1 in 4,000 of the UK population seeks support to change their gender. There 
is evidence to suggest that these groups of people consider themselves to be amongst the most marginalised 
and discriminated against groups in society and can experience significant health inequalities. There are 
outcomes within the Corporate Plan that support people at risk of harm, support people to live in harmony 
together, whatever their background, enable people to have their voce heard and be free from discrimination. It 
is considered that there will be no adverse impact in respect of sexual orientation or gender reassignment. 

The 2011 census showed almost 73,323, (44.2%) of residents as being married and 293 (0.2%) in civil 
partnerships in Rochdale borough. The council’s Relationships Manifesto highlights the importance of good 
relationships for higher levels of happiness. The Corporate Plan acknowledges that families might need support 
to stay together through early intervention, but will provide support to all residents regardless of their 
partnership status, as such it is considered that there will be no adverse impact in respect of Marriage or Civil 
Partnership

Armed Forces personnel often need additional advice and support relating to issues of education, housing, 
training and jobs. There are outcomes within the Corporate Plan that support people at risk of harm, support 
people to live in harmony together, whatever their background, enable people to have their voce heard and be 
free from discrimination. It is considered that there will be no adverse impact in respect of armed forces. 

Within the Borough of Rochdale 23,260 people identified themselves as a carer in the 2011 Census. According 
to the 2011 census there are 6,105 people within the Rochdale Borough (2.9% of the total local population) 
providing 50 or more hours of unpaid care per week. This is above regional and national comparators. The 
JSNA highlights a key theme that carers can be isolated, as such the corporate plan prioritises more carers 
receiving appropriate support and having good levels of social contact. It is considered that there will be a 
positive impact for carers. 

What is the potential impact that the policy could have with regard to the protected characteristics?

(Identify whether the policy has the potential to impact in a positive or negative way or not at all. For negative 
impacts use the impact table to calculate a score based on the likelihood that an impact will occur and what the 
actual impact might be then determine whether it is a High priority (H), Medium priority (M) or Low priority (L))

Positive 
Impact 

Negative 
Impact

Impact 
Score 
(1-25)

Impact 
priority
(H/M/L)

Neutral 
Impact

Age
☒ ☐ ☐

Disability
☒ ☐ ☐

Gender Reassignment 
☐ ☐ ☒

Marriage or civil partnership 
☐ ☐ ☒

Pregnancy or maternity
☒ ☐ ☐

Race 
☐ ☐ ☒

Religion or belief
☐ ☐ ☒

Sex
☐ ☐ ☒

Sexual orientation
☐ ☐ ☒

Serving / ex serving members of the armed forces
☐ ☐ ☒

Carers ☒ ☐ ☐

Page 16



3. Do any of your negative impact scores identify as high priority on the impact table?

Yes      ☐                  No      ☒

If you identify a negative impact as being HIGH PRIORITY you must complete a full EIA (stage 2 onwards)

4. How will you minimise/remove any negative impact that identifies as medium or low?

N/A as impacts are neutral or positive. 

5. Is a full EIA required?

Yes      ☐                 No      ☒

Lead Officer Signature: C. Wolfenden Date: 12.09.2019

Approver Signature Date:

Page 17



Prosperous 
people and places
Our Corporate Plan 2019-2022

P
age 18



Our vision:
Make our borough a great place 
to grow up, get on and live well

Prosperity is the condition of being successful or thriving and that is what we want 
for our people and places. Prosperous people are healthy, safe, happy and able to 
participate fully in life. Prosperous places continually grow and change and they 
have strong local economies that provide opportunities and quality of life. 

Everyone in the borough will make things better for themselves and others. We will enable individuals 
and communities to lead change in their own lives and neighbourhoods, by having conversations and 
drawing upon their experiences and expertise to design and deliver the right services. 

We will also provide specialist support to those that are struggling and in need of extra help. As a 
Cooperative Council we are committed to working with citizens and partners to make our borough a 
great place to grow up, get on and live well. 

We are ambitious for our people and place and our Passion to strive for 
excellence is what underpins our corporate plan. For many years councils 
have faced significant financial challenges, having to do more with less. 

While we have demonstrated resilience and have continued to deliver services and make 
improvements to the local area, we cannot ignore the ongoing financial difficulties that we 
face and the inequalities experienced by some people that live in the borough. We must                 
adopt a Pioneering and Open approach to meet the different needs and aspirations of our     
diverse communities. 

This involves responding positively to change, being realistic about what is practical and 
affordable, and working together to deliver outcomes. We are committed to our role as 
ambassadors for the borough and we want everyone to join us in making the borough of    
Rochdale a place to be Proud of.

Councillor Allen Brett
Leader of Rochdale Borough Council

Steve Rumbelow
Chief Executive of Rochdale Borough Council

P
age 19



Our outcomes:

People get a  
good start

People are 
protected

People are 
resilient

People are
healthy

People fulfil     
their potential

Place is age 
friendly

Place is      
inclusive

Place is 
welcoming

Place provides 
opportunities

Place supports 
sustainable 

growth

P
age 20



Our indicators of success:

All children are healthy and ready to succeed 
when they start school and all children and 

young adults achieve their potential.

All residents are protected from harm, through 
support in times of need and by safeguarding 

and protecting those who are vulnerable.

Reduced risk of deliberate harm, accidental injury      
and neglect for both children and adults

Reduced rates of children and adults                     
needing protection and care 

Fewer children and young people entering                   
the youth justice system

More people with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities supported to know their rights and  

receiving joined up support 

More carers receiving appropriate support

More families staying together                                
through early intervention

More mothers breastfeeding for longer

Fewer mothers smoking in pregnancy

More children school ready

All pupils achieving at all key stages

More young people participating in           
apprenticeships and learning

P
age 21



Our indicators of success:

All residents have good mental wellbeing,  
are resilient, enjoy life, and are able to cope 

with life’s challenges.

All residents feel healthy and remain in a good 
state of health for as long as possible.

More people are physically active                          
including the over 50’s

More people are a healthy weight

Reduced harm from drugs, alcohol and smoking

Fewer people dying early from diseases 

More children have good oral health

Fewer older people suffering from falls

Fewer people experiencing lengthy hospital stays 
through reablement and care at home

Children and young people have high self-esteem      
and are satisfied with their life, including being           

free from bullying at school

Fewer people have common and severe                  
mental health disorders

People have good levels of social contact and             
are not lonely or isolated, including adult care         

users, older people and carers

Fewer households living in fuel poverty

Fewer people living in deprivation, suffering the impact 
of Welfare Reform or living in poverty in later life

More households prevented from becoming homeless

P
age 22



Our indicators of success:

All residents have the opportunities they need to 
enable them to help themselves, their loved ones 

and their communities to achieve their full potential.

The borough is a place where people age 
well, can live with dignity and have equitable 

access to services and opportunities.

Younger and older people engaging in   
intergenerational activities

More people aged 50-64 in employment,              
training or volunteering

More older people participating in community activities 

People supported to live well with dementia

People have access to quality home care,         
residential and nursing care services

People have access to good or outstanding             
places of learning

People have higher levels of qualifications and skills, 
including being able to access and use technology

More people have higher earnings

More Rochdale employees receiving the living wage, 
getting a fair day’s pay for a fair day’s work 

More people in good employment or engaging in 
meaningful activity during the working day

P
age 23



Our indicators of success:

The borough is friendly,                           
inclusive and co-operative.

The borough is safe, resilient, and clean and 
has good quality places where people choose 

to live, work and invest.

More and a better mix of affordable and  
higher value homes, including land being made 

available to support development

Sustainable homes that have age and      
environmentally friendly features

More empty homes being brought back into use         
and an improved private rented sector

Air and land free from pollution and infrastructure      
that protects against climate change by using        

natural/renewable sources

Accessible, quality highways and transport           
options, including cycling and walking

Reduced crime and antisocial behaviour

People come together through creative                        
and cultural opportunities 

More people engaging in volunteering, acts of    
kindness and doing things for each other

Fewer people experiencing discrimination and 
greater consideration of the needs of people                            
who are disadvantaged or suffer inequality

More people living in harmony together, whatever    
their background, religion or culture 

More people have their voice heard through 
engagement and consultation, especially young people 

P
age 24



Our indicators of success:

The borough has thriving growing businesses 
and new enterprises and creates the conditions 

for high skill levels and high quality jobs.

The borough has sound finances and is able to 
provide services to meet residents needs now 

and in the future.

Maximised income through investment, sponsorship, 
funding and rates and through better use of the local 

environment, heritage and buildings

People spending money on local goods and services to 
keep more of the Rochdale pound in Rochdale

Reduced demand on health and care services          
(A&E, hospitals, GP’s)

Healthy, stable and quality workforces, particularly        
in key sectors (care, social work etc.)

Improved availability and reliability of online access 
including better internet speeds and public wifi

Service delivery models making use of             
technology and data

More jobs created and good quality apprenticeships

Higher proportion of skilled work in the labour market 

Town centres offer a balance of employment, 
commercial, leisure, community, housing,          

healthcare and educational use

More businesses relocating, starting up                           
or expanding in the borough

More land and sites for employment  

P
age 25



Cooperation
Public services, partners, citizens, businesses and the 
voluntary and community sector will share decision 
making and jointly design and deliver services.

Strengthening community assets
Individuals and families will use their skills, experiences and  

kindness to develop and improve their own communities.

Prevention and intervention
Public services, citizens and businesses will take action  
to stop problems from arising or becoming worse. 

Addressing the climate emergency
Public services, partners, citizens, businesses and the 

voluntary and community sector will increase their 
efforts to remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere 

and reduce their own impact on the planet, 
to help to address the climate emergency.  

Our ways of working:
Everyone in the borough will make 
things better for themselves and others

Integrated and local
Public services, partners and the voluntary and community 
sector will share skills, expertise and resources to deliver 
services at the right time and in the right places. 

Collective change 
Individuals will practice self-help and make choices so 
that they are able to look after themselves and others. 

P
age 26



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 18th December 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Keith Mackenzie
Public/Private Document Public

2020/21 Council Tax Taxbase

Executive Summary

1. This report seeks approval from Council on 18th December 2019:

1. To agree the statutory Council Tax Base calculation for 2020/21, 
calculated in accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of 
Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 as part of the 2020/21 
Estimates process.

2. To approve the precept payment dates for 2020/21.

Recommendation

2. The Council is asked to consider:

a. The Council Tax base expressed as “Band D equivalent properties”, be 
recommended as 55,745 for 2020/21 (55,176 2019/20) as detailed at 
Appendix 1.

b. The proposed precepts payment schedule detailed in paragraph 4.2.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

Rochdale Borough Council, as a Council Tax billing authority, is required each 
year to make statutory calculations specified in Section 33 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended). The Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 require 
authorities to calculate the Council Tax base (number of taxable properties), 
expressed as "Band D equivalent properties". Approval of these calculations is 
required by 31st January in each financial year. 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes the procedures to be 
adopted in setting precept payment dates. The Act requires billing authorities 
to notify precepting authorities of a proposed payments schedule. This 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



3.3

notification must be given before 31st December in respect of the following 
financial year. The final payments schedule is then confirmed by 31st January.

The calculation of the tax base has to be made by 31st January and notified to 
the major precepting and levying authorities0. Under Section 84 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 the determination can be delegated to a committee or 
sub-committee in accordance with Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972. This report recommends that Cabinet  considers this report for 
submission to Council on 18th December 2019 

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

4.1.4

4.1.5

4.2

4.2.1

Calculation of the Council Tax Base

The calculation of the tax base starts with the number of recorded 
properties in each tax band (A to H) as at 9 September 2019, adjusted 
for: 

 changes expected to occur up to 31 March 2021 as a result of 
appeals, demolition and new home construction; 

 estimated number of disabled person’s reductions; 
 discounts allowed for single person households, students and 

empty/exempt properties.

Following on from the resulting figure from the application of the 
process outlined in paragraph 4.1.2, the tax base calculation for 
2020/21 also takes account of the additional charges resulting from the 
local discount scheme in place for empty properties and second homes, 
along with the impact of the Local Council Tax Support scheme.

The calculated number of properties in each band is then multiplied by 
a factor specified in the regulations to give an "equivalent number of 
band D properties" and then by an estimate of the likely collection rate 
for 2020/21 to give the tax base.

The Council Tax base is used by the precepting authorities to apportion 
their net expenditure to their constituent authorities and by Rochdale 
Borough Council to set the level of Council Tax for 2020/21.

The Council's net budgeted spending, including precepts and levies 
and after taking account of receipts of Business Rate income, is divided 
by the tax base to produce the Council Tax level for Band D properties, 
which is the headline tax figure.

Precepting Authority and Payment Dates 2020/21

From 2018/19 elected Combined Authority Mayors were able to raise 
additional resources through a precept (or additional charge) on local 
Council Tax bills. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority sets a 
precept with two separately identified elements for the mayor’s general 
functions, including the precept previously made for GM Fire & Rescue 

Page 28



4.2.2

4.2.3

4.3

4.4

Authority, and for Police & Crime Commissioner functions. 

For 2020/21 the precepting authorities will continue to be:

a) Rochdale Borough Council – General Functions
b) Rochdale Borough Council – Adult Care
c) Greater Manchester Combined Authority – Police & Crime 

Commissioner
d) Greater Manchester Combined Authority – General Functions, 

including Fire Services

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes the procedures to 
be adopted in setting precept payment dates. The Act requires billing 
authorities to notify precepting authorities of a proposed payments 
schedule. This notification must be given before 31st December in 
respect of the following financial year. The final payments schedule is 
then confirmed by 31st January.

The proposed payments schedule, is in line with the one operating in 
the current year, which was agreed by all Greater Manchester 
Authorities:

20th April 2020 20th October 2020
20th May 2020 20th November 2020
22nd June 2020 21st December 2020
20th July 2020 20th January 2021
20th August 2020 22nd February 2021
21st September 2020 22nd March 2021

Alternatives Considered

No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
calculate and approve a Council Tax base each financial year.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

5.3

The detailed calculation of the tax base is set out in Appendix 1.

The total number of properties has increased by 743 from 93,986 to 94,729 in 
the year ending on 9 September 2019. In the previous two years the net 
change had been increases of 609 (2018) and 398 (2017). There continues to 
be a level of new build across the Borough, and whilst some of this is offset by 
demolitions, this further increase shows a continuing growth in the overall 
property numbers.

The Local Council Tax Support scheme forecast provided in the tax base is 
based on the proposed 2020/21 local scheme to be approved by Council on 
18th December 2019. 

Page 29



5.4 The overall estimated collection rate is increasing to 98.0% to reflect the 
improvements made in the last few years (97.5% in 2019/20).

Risk and Policy Implications

It is necessary to comply with Section 33 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as amended); The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) (England) Regulations 2012; Section 84 of the Local Government Act 
2003 and Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, to ensure that there 
is no risk of the authority acting ultra vires in relation to its Council Tax 
arrangements.  

It is necessary to comply with Section 33 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992 (as amended) and The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council 
Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012, to ensure the Council Tax Base is 
correctly calculated.

6.1

Consultation

7. This report is part of the budget setting process and consultation is 
undertaken with stakeholder groups, staff and service users as appropriate 
throughout the budget process.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Keith Mackenzie: Tel: 01706 926003 
Keith.Mackenzie@Rochdale.Gov.UK 

Page 30



Appendix 1 – Calculation of the Council Tax base for 2020/21

1.1 Property Details

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)

Band Valuation * Properties @ 9th September 2019
Adjusted number of properties, after 

discounts, exemptions etc. (see 1.2 below)
Factor Band D Equivalent

A (Disabled) £40,000 100 89 5/9 49
A £40,000 51,035 31,544 6/9 21,029
B £52,000 16,279 13,129 7/9 10,211
C £68,000 12,439 10,751 8/9 9,556
D £88,000 7,862 7,465 1 7,465
E £120,000 4,422 4,066 11/9 4,970
F £160,000 1,670 1,556 13/9 2,248
G £320,000 867 771 15/9 1,285
H over £320,000 55 35 18/9 70
TOTAL 94,729 69,406 56,883

* Valuations based on property values as at 1st April 1991.

1.2

Properties at 9th September 2019 94,729
Forecast for net new growth (after demolitions) 657
Forecast for exemptions (1,796)

(24,184)
Net adjusted number of properties to be used in calculation of the Council Tax Base 69,406

1.3

1.4

1.5

The total number of properties at 94,729 on 9th September 2019 (column 3) compares to 93,986 last year, reflecting that new house building developments within the 
Borough were greater than demolitions during the year, resulting in a net growth in the overall number of properties. Adjustments are made to reflect the forecast level of 
discounts and exemptions given to Council Tax payers: 

To calculate the statutory tax base, the number of Band D equivalent properties (column 6) is multiplied by the estimated eventual collection rate for income raised relating 
to 2020/21. The estimated collection rate used for 2020/21 is 98% (2019/20: 97.5%).

Applying a 98% collection rate gives a 2020/21 statutory tax base calculation of 55,745 Band D equivalent properties (56,883 x 98%).

Variations in the outturn tax base due to the under/over achievement of the collection rate, or differences between the assumptions and actuals  in calculating the number 
of Band D equivalent properties, will result in a surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund. This is shared between Rochdale Borough Council and the precepting bodies.

Forecast for adjustments relating to Single Person discounts, Local Council Tax Support, and Empty/other discounts 

P
age 31



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 18th December 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Keith Mackenzie
Public/Private Document Public

2020/21 Setting of the Business Rate Base

Executive Summary

1. This report seeks approval from Council on 18th December 2019:

1. For the setting of the Business Rates baseline for 2020/21 in 
accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the Non-
Domestic Rating Regulations 2013.

2. To approve the precept payment dates for 2020/21.

Recommendation

2. Council is asked to consider:

1. The draft Business Rate baseline figure of £63.991m for 2020/21, 
subject to any changes which may result from:

 the provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020/21.
 the issue of the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government (MHCLG) guidance on completion of the 2020/21 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1), due in January 2020.

2. The Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance, to be authorised to conclude and agree the final Business 
Rates baseline return (NNDR1) due on 31 January 2020, should the 
final information yet to be received from MHCLG change the baseline 
figure for 2020/21.

3. That the precepts payment schedule detailed in paragraph 4.2 be 
approved.

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

The Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/452) 
require billing authorities to notify the Secretary of State and their major 
precepting authority of their calculation of non-domestic rating income for the 
following financial year and the estimated surplus/deficit on the Collection 
Fund by 31st January each year.

The figures are produced subject to the MHCLG guidance being published 
and provided, following which the figure in this report may have to be revisited.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.1.1

4.1.2

4.1.3

4.1.4

4.1.5

Setting the Business Rates Baseline

From 1st April 2013 the Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) was 
introduced as part of the move to localise and stimulate business 
growth at a local level. Under the original BRRS the Authority paid 50% 
of its Business Rates income to Central Government, 1% to Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) – Fire Services, and retained 
the remaining 49%.

The Local Government Settlement 2017/18 included the introduction of 
the 100% retention of Business Rates for identified regional pilot 
authorities, including Greater Manchester. The Government has 
confirmed that the GM pilot scheme will continue in 2020/21. Under the 
pilot scheme 100% of the Business Rates income is retained locally, in 
lieu of Revenue Support Grant and Public Health Grant. The precept 
arrangement under the pilot scheme is 99% to Rochdale BC and 1% to 
GMCA – Fire Services. 

Central Government has assessed potential retained Business Rates 
income and provided a “top up” grant within the local government 
finance settlement to bridge the gap in funding as a result of the move 
to the BRRS.

The BRRS is accounted for within the Collection Fund. This account 
reflects the statutory requirements for the Council to maintain a 
separate Collection Fund, in relation to the operation of the BRRS and 
Council Tax. The Fund records all the transactions for billing, payments 
by Council Tax/ Business Rates payers, reliefs granted, write offs and 
payments to the precepting authorities. At the end of each year the 
surplus/deficit on the Fund is allocated to the precepting authorities on 
the basis of their level of precept on the Collection Fund.

In January of each year the Authority is required to set an estimated 
Business Rates income yield for the following year which is to be used 
to inform the precepting authorities of their precept on the Fund on the 
basis of:

Rochdale BC – General Fund                                         99%

Page 33



4.1.6

4.2

4.2.1

4.2.2

4.3

4.3.1

Greater Manchester Combined Authority – Fire Services    1%

A Central Government standard form is used (known as the NNDR1) to 
ensure a common approach for the collection of the Business Rates 
income forecast. The return to be used for the completion of the 
2020/21 estimate has not yet been made available by MHCLG. The 
setting of the baseline for 2020/21 has been prepared on a draft basis 
until further clarification is received from MHCLG.

Precept Payment Dates 2020/21

The Business Rates retention regulations require that the local authority 
should agree a precept schedule with the  precept authority, which in 
the case of Rochdale Council will be Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority – Fire Services.

It is proposed that the same payments schedule be adopted as set out 
for the Council Tax precept, which is detailed below:

20th April 2020 20th October 2020
20th May 2020 20th November 2020
22nd June 2020 21st December 2020
20th July 2020 20th January 2021
20th August 2020 22nd February 2021
21st September 2020 22nd March 2021

Alternatives Considered

No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
estimate and set a Business Rates Baseline each financial year.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

A final NNDR1 must be agreed by the Chief Financial Officer and returned to 
MHCLG by 31st January each year.  The final return must include:

a) the anticipated gross income to be billed to businesses in 2020/21;
b) estimates for any growth in Business Rates anticipated in 2020/21, net 

of any demolitions;
c) forecast  for any increases in Business Rates relief including empty 

reliefs;
d) changes in amounts to be collected should those premises that still 

have outstanding appeals from the rateable value changes in 2005 and 
2010 be resolved;

e) changes in amounts to be collected from premises that are subject to a 
reduction as a result of the appeals process or Valuation Office Agency 
(VOA) adjustments.

A final baseline position for 2020/21 cannot be included in this report, as the 
final guidance will be issued by MHCLG in mid-January 2020. Members are 
requested to approve that the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the 

Page 34



5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

Cabinet Member for Finance, be authorised to conclude and agree the final 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1), due on 31 January 2020, should the 
final information yet to be received from MHCLG change the baseline figure 
for 2020/21.

The Government will set out the 2020/21 provisional Business Rates 
multiplier; this will be confirmed after either the Local Government Finance 
Report for 2020/21 has been approved by the House of Commons or 1 March 
2020, whichever is earlier.

Using the estimated Business Rates multipliers currently assumed in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, the Business Rates baseline for 2020/21 
would be £63.991m split between:

The 2020/21 estimated Business Rates baseline takes into account the latest 
forecast for 2019/20, and estimated changes in the baseline for 2020/21.

An estimate of the outturn for the 2019/20 financial year Business Rates to be 
collected will be compared to the estimated baseline amount provided in the 
NNDR1 for 2019/20. Any differences between the estimate and the projected 
actual collected will be adjusted as part of setting the 2020/21 Business Rates 
precept payments.

Rochdale Borough Council £63.351m
GMCA – Fire Services   £0.640m
Total £63.991m

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

It is necessary for the Council to comply with the Non-Domestic Rating (Rates 
Retention) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/452) to ensure that it does not act ultra 
vires in relation to its arrangements for the setting of the Business Rates Base 
for 2020/21. 

In 2020/21 the Council will continue to be part of the GM pilot to retain 100% 
of Business Rates, as outlined above. The 100% Business Rates pilot will 
mean that the Council will take 99% of the risk for the collection of all 
Business Rates rather than 49% under the previous system. Major changes to 
Business Rates, such as awards of mandatory reliefs for schools converting to 
academies, will be borne mainly by the local authority. 

As part of the 100% pilot the Council will be responsible for 99% of the cost of 
changes to rateable values as a result of appeals, which introduces further 
volatility to the Business Rates income collected.

There are still a number of rateable value appeals outstanding where 
businesses have appealed against the values set by the Valuation Office 
Agency in 2005 and 2010. The backlog of appeals may have a significant 
impact for the business rates to be collected and retained by the local 

Page 35



authority, including the costs of any backdated amounts. A provision is held to 
support the ongoing mitigation of this risk.  

Businesses now use the check, challenge and appeal process against 
rateable values that came into effect on 1 April 2017 which may have a 
financial impact on business rate income. A provision is held to offset the 
possible impact of successful appeals, and other rateable value reductions 
made by the Valuation Office Agency.

6.5

Consultation

7. This report is part of the budget setting process and consultation is 
undertaken with stakeholder groups, staff and service users as appropriate 
throughout the budget process.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Keith Mackenzie: Tel: 01706 926003 
Keith.Mackenzie@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Page 36



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 18th December 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Keith Mackenzie
Public/Private Document Public

2020/21 Local Council Tax Support Scheme

Executive Summary

1. This report proposes changes to the Council’s Local Council Tax Support 
scheme for 2020/21. The changes are proposed so that the scheme remains 
fit for purpose for working age residents in receipt of Universal Credit.

Recommendation

2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

Council is asked to consider:

To note the findings of the consultation process for the review of the Local 
Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/21.

To agree to introduce a banded income scheme for 2020/21 for working age 
residents in receipt of Universal Credit in line with Sections 4.1, 4.2 & 4.3, 
following the outcome of the consultation exercise as detailed in Section 7.

To note that this report was submitted to Corporate Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee on the 26 November 2019 for consideration and comment.

To note that the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/21 will be 
submitted to Council on 18 December 2019 for approval in accordance with 
Section 67 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended requires 
local authorities to consider whether to revise or to replace its Local Council 
Tax Support Scheme each year. Any revisions or a replacement scheme must 
have been considered and agreed for operation from 1 April 2020.

Key Points for Consideration

Page 37

Agenda Item 8



4.1

4.2

A big change introduced by Universal Credit (UC) is that any changes in a 
claimant’s income, however small, will be reported to the Council. Under the 
2019/20 Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) scheme this means the Council 
must reassess their claim every time a change in income is notified. This in 
turn means a new council tax bill is issued, with a change to the payment 
plan. Current figures suggest an average of four changes reported per UC 
claim each year although it could be as many as twelve changes each year 
for fluctuating monthly incomes.

To make the Council’s LCTS scheme easier to understand and to avoid 
creating a new council tax bill every time a small change in UC income is 
reported, a new banded income scheme is recommended (details are shown 
in section 4.2 below). This would mean that where a change in a resident’s UC 
income fell within the same weekly income band as their previous UC income 
was in; no change would be made to their LCTS award. In turn no new LCTS 
award letters or council tax bills would need to be issued.

Officers have explored various financial models for banded income schemes 
that meet the objectives, whilst remaining cost neutral.

The following model for a banded income scheme is proposed:

For a person entitled to Universal Credit, if their weekly income is below or the 
same as their applicable amount(1), or up to £10.00 over, their Local Council 
Tax Support will be the maximum amount, currently 85% of council tax liability
capped at Band A (adjusted as appropriate for non-dependant deductions), as 
now.

For those whose weekly income is £10.01 or more higher than their applicable 
amount(1), their Local Council Tax Support will be at the level set in the table 
below (less any non-dependant deduction), which will vary as the excess 
income increases.

(1) The applicable amount is set annually by Government and takes into
account a number of factors, for example, single, couple, lone parent, age, 
disabilities, etc….

Band of weekly income Council Tax Support*
Applicable amount (or less) + up to £10.00 85% of council tax **
£10.01 to £25.00 75% of council tax **
£25.01 to £45.00 60% of council tax **
£45.01 to £65.00 45% of council tax **
£65.01 to £85.00 25% of council tax **
£85.01 to £100.00 10% of council tax **
£100.01+ No Support

* this is the amount before any reduction for non-dependents
                                                  ** council tax liability capped at Band A

Based on the current Universal Credit Local Council Tax Support caseload of
5,629, the impact of this proposal would be as follows;

Page 38



4.3

4.4

No change 3,999 (71%)
Increased awards 1,355 (24%)
Reduced awards*    275 (5%)
* lose less than £1 per week     35
* lose between £1 and £5 per week   240

To facilitate the transition to the banded income scheme it is proposed that a
hardship fund payment is made available to all claimants (currently 275) who
would receive a reduced award. This is currently forecast to cost £32,285.76 
for the financial year.

On 30 July 2019, Cabinet agreed to consult on proposed changes to the 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) which would take affect from 1 
April 2020.The proposals which formed the basis of the consultation were:

1. Leaving the scheme the same in 2020/21 as currently operates.

2. Changing to a banded income scheme for working age 
residents in receipt of Universal Credit.

3. If the banded income scheme is approved, no longer issuing 
LCTS award letters or council tax bills if there no change in the 
level of award.

Alternatives Considered

The current Local Council Tax Support scheme could continue unchanged for
2020/21. As outlined above, this would create confusion and uncertainty for 
the growing number of Universal Credit customers.

The number of customers affected is currently 5,629, but this will increase to 
around 7,000 by April 2020 and further increase during the 2020/21 and later 
financial years. Every change in income, however small, would result in a new 
council tax bill being issued with an amended payment plan. The average 
number of changes per year is currently four, but some customers will have as 
many as twelve changes in a year.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

A significant amount of modelling has been undertaken based on the current 
Local Council Tax Support caseload. The change being proposed in this 
report is expected to be cost neutral. This includes the proposed hardship fund 
payment.

To implement this change, the Council will be required to purchase an 
additional module from our software supplier. This is estimated to cost in the 
region of £30,000. This has been factored into the 2019/20 service budget and 
no additional funding is required.

Risk and Policy Implications

Page 39



There is a risk the proposed scheme may be subject to legal challenge on the 
basis of The Equality Act 2010 if the proposed changes adversely impact 
upon service users with protected characteristics. To mitigate this, a 
consultation exercise been carried out and an equality impact assessment has 
been undertaken. The outcome of consultation and the equality impact 
assessment is enclosed at Appendix B with this report.

There are also some known risks;

 There is a continued risk of increased demand resulting from higher 
take up, or increased numbers needing assistance or existing 
claimants’ income reducing that are the financial responsibility of the 
Council.

 There is an increased risk due to the migration to Universal Credit. 

These are risks where the future demands and impact cannot be determined 
with any certainty so will be subject to ongoing review in developing and 
adapting the scheme within budget constraints.

Compliance with Schedule 1A (4) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 
as amended must be complied with.  If any revision to a scheme has the 
effect of reducing or removing a reduction to which any class of persons is 
entitled, the revision or replacement must include such transitional provision 
relating to that reduction or removal as the authority thinks fit.

Use of the hardship payment fund will mitigate this risk.

6.1

6.2

6.3

Consultation

7. The Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires Councils to consult 
should proposals to amend the Scheme are to be considered. The 
recommended consultation period should be a minimum of 8 weeks and 
a maximum of 12 weeks. The following is required:

 consult with precept authorities
 publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit
 consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an 

interest in the operation of the scheme.

The consultation took place over a ten week period from 12 August 2019 to 
20 October 2019. 

Over the consultation period we have set out to engage with both those who 
are directly affected by the proposals but also the wider community, as 
follows:

 A copy of the consultation report has been sent to the Chief Finance 
Officer of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority seeking their 
views on the proposals.

 All Council Members were provided with details of the proposals and 

Page 40



consultation process in advance of it starting.
 The Council’s consultation hub provided a detailed outline of the 

proposals on an on-line questionnaire.
 During the consultation period there have been press releases and 

social media feeds to maintain general awareness of the consultation 
and to encourage people to take part.

 The Council’s website including links to the consultation hub on all 
relevant pages.

 All correspondence sent out by the Revenues & Benefits team during 
the consultation period has sign posted residents to the consultation 
hub on the Council’s website.

A total of 58 consultation responses have been received. The tables below 
summarise the responses which indicate overwhelming support for the 
Scheme to be amended.

1. Do you agree or disagree that we should move to a banded Local 
Council Tax Support Scheme?

Strongly agree or agree 45 77.6%
Neither agree or disagree or don’t know 3 5.2%
Disagree or strongly disagree 10 17.2%

2. Do you agree that we have worked out the bands correctly?
Yes 40 69.0%
No 7 12.1%
Don’t know 11 18.9%

3. If we have a banded scheme for Local Council Tax Support we don’t 
want to send you letters unless you move band and the amount of 
council tax you have to pay changes. Do you agree or disagree?

Strongly agree or agree 48 82.8%
Neither agree or disagree or don’t know 4 6.9%
Disagree or strongly disagree 6 10.3%

4. We want to make available our Discretionary Council Tax Hardship 
Scheme to help households who will lose from the change and are 
struggling to pay their council tax. Do you agree or disagree?

Strongly agree or agree 41 70.7%
Neither agree or disagree or don’t know 15 25.9%
Disagree or strongly disagree 2 3.4%

5. Do you or your household currently get Local Council Tax Support?
Yes 29 50.0%
No 29 50.0%

6. Do you or your household currently receive Universal Credit?
Yes 20 34.5%
No 37 63.8%
Don’t know 1 1.7%

18 of those that responded provided additional comments. Council Members 

Page 41



have been provided with a full schedule of all the comments received in 
Appendix A.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8
.

Cabinet report of 30 July 2019 http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s
67437/202021%20Local%20Council%20Tax%20S
upport%20Scheme.pdf

For Further Information Contact: Keith Mackenzie: Tel: 01706 926003 
Keith.Mackenzie@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Page 42

http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s67437/202021%20Local%20Council%20Tax%20Support%20Scheme.pdf
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s67437/202021%20Local%20Council%20Tax%20Support%20Scheme.pdf
http://democracy.rochdale.gov.uk/documents/s67437/202021%20Local%20Council%20Tax%20Support%20Scheme.pdf


1

APPENDIX A

Equality Impact Assessment

 

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below

√

Service:

Finance

Section: 

Revenues & Benefits

Responsible Officer:

Keith Mackenzie

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

Review of the Local Council Tax Support scheme eligibility 
criteria for customers in receipt of Universal Credit for 2020/21.

Date of Assessment: 6 November 2019

Officers Involved: 

Carolyn Goddard – Operations Manager

Keith Mackenzie- Head of Revenues and Benefits

1. What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

Background

Following the abolition of the national Council Tax Benefit scheme, Local Authorities have had powers to 
provide discounts to council tax payers who meet the eligibility criteria for support; this is known as the Local 
Council Tax Support scheme (LCTS). 

In Rochdale the roll-out of Universal Credit (UC) “full service” is now complete. Even though working age 
customers are generally no longer able to make a new claim to “legacy” benefits, such as Housing Benefit, 
they still need to make a claim for LCTS from the Council, along with a claim for UC.

Page 43



2

Changes to the scheme

The changes proposed only affect working age customers in receipt of UC. Non-working age customers 
(pensioners) and those working age customers not in receipt of UC are unaffected by the changes. The 
proposed changes to the scheme are designed to make the process of administering LCTS as efficient as 
possible for the Council and simpler for working age people claiming UC.

A big change introduced by UC is that any changes in a customer’s income, however small, will be reported 
to the Council by the Department of Works and Pensions. Under the 2019/20 LCTS scheme this means the 
Council must reassess their claim every time a change in income is notified. This in turn means a new 
council tax bill is issued, with a change to the payment plan, and revised LCTS notification letters.

Current figures suggest an average of four changes reported per UC claim each year although it could be as 
many as twelve changes each year for those customer’s with fluctuating monthly incomes.

To make the Council’s LCTS scheme easier to understand and to avoid creating a new council tax bill every 
time a small change in UC income is reported, a new banded income scheme is recommended (details are 
shown below): 

For a person entitled to UC, if their weekly income is below or the same as their applicable amount(1), or 
£10.00 over, their LCTS will be the maximum amount, currently 85% of council tax liability capped at Band A 
(adjusted as appropriate for non-dependant deductions), as now.

For those whose weekly income is £10.01 or more higher than their applicable amount(1), their LCTS will be 
at the level set in the table below (less any non-dependant deduction), which will vary as the excess income 
increases.

(1) The applicable amount is set annually by Government and takes into account a number of factors, for 
example, single, couple, lone parent, age, disabilities and so on.

Band of weekly income Council Tax Support*
Applicable amount (or less) + up to £10.00 85% of council tax **
£10.01 to £25.00 75% of council tax **
£25.01 to £45.00 60% of council tax **
£45.01 to £65.00 45% of council tax **
£65.01 to £85.00 25% of council tax **
£85.01 to £100.00 10% of council tax **
£100.01+ No Support

* this is the amount before any reduction for non-dependents
                                                                         ** council tax liability capped at Band A

This would mean that where a change in a customer’s UC income fell within the same weekly income band 
that their previous UC income was in; no change would be made to their LCTS award. In turn no new LCTS 
award letters or council tax bills would need to be issued.

2. Who are the key stakeholders?

 Current and future working age customers of LCTS who also receive UC
 Groups who represent customers such as Citizens Advice Bureau, who have an interest in the 

proposals
 Housing Services and Social Landlords
 Customer facing staff
 Elected Council Members and officers of Rochdale Borough Council

Page 44



3

 Partners/local agencies with an interest in supporting customers

3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment?  

Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires Local Authorities to consider whether to 
revise or to replace its LCTS scheme each year. 

To assess the positive and negative effects of the proposed changes on LCTS customers affected, 
particularly with regard to the protected groups.

4. Which needs are this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

The aim of LCTS is to provide financial assistance by way of a reduction in the council tax bill payable for 
those customers who qualify. 

The proposed changes are designed to make the process of administering LCTS as efficient as possible for 
the Council and simpler for working age people claiming UC.

5. Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

A full needs analysis was not undertaken because the LCTS scheme is designed to provide financial 
assistance to council tax payers who need assistance with payment of their council tax. The scheme criteria 
covers both working age and pension credit age customers.

The proposed change only affects working age LCTS customers who receive UC.

Since the introduction of UC and the need to reassess all changes in monthly incomes, some of this 
customer group receives council tax bills and LCTS notification letters on a very regular basis (sometimes as 
many as twelve each year) this causes confusion as customers do not know what needs to be paid when. 

The proposed change will introduce a banded income scheme for this customer group and the majority of 
small monthly changes will not result in a change to the LCTS award and not require a revised council tax 
bill and LCTS notification letter to be issued.

6. Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

Based on data from July we have a UC LCTS caseload of 5,629. The impact of the proposal would be as 
follows;

No change 3,999 (71%)
Increased awards 1,355 (24%)
Reduced awards*    275 (5%)
* lose less than £1 per week      35
* lose between £1 and £5 per week    240

Gender 128 male
147 female

Disability   27 customers are in receipt of a disability benefit
Age   30 aged between 18-25

106 aged between 26-34
121 aged between 35-55

Page 45



4

  18 aged 56 plus
Carers     2 customers are in receipt of Carers Allowance

To facilitate the transition to the banded income scheme it is proposed that a hardship fund is made 
available to all customers (currently 275) who would receive a reduced award. This is known as the 
Discretionary Council Tax Payment scheme.  This is currently forecast to cost £32,979.96. 

7. Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

 A copy of the consultation report has been sent to the Chief Finance Officer of the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority seeking their views on the proposals.

 All Council Members were provided with details of the proposals and consultation process in 
advance of it starting.

 The Council’s consultation hub provided a detailed outline of the proposals and on-line questionnaire.
 During the consultation period there have been press releases and social media feeds to maintain 

general awareness of the consultation and to encourage people to take part.
 The Council’s website including links to the consultation hub on all relevant pages.
 All correspondence sent out by the Revenues & Benefits service during the consultation period has 

sign posted residents to the consultation hub on the Council’s website.

The Council’s consultation had 58 responses and broadly approved the proposals:

 77.6% either agreed or strongly agreed that we should move to a banded LCTS scheme from April 
2020.

 82.8% either agreed or strongly agreed that letters shouldn’t be issued unless the customer moves 
bands.

 70.7% either agreed or strongly agreed with the use of Discretionary Council Tax hardship scheme 
to help households who will lose from the change.

No responses were received from the Greater Manchester Combined Authority or Council Members.

8. What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

 The Capita computer system modelling database was used to provide information using November 
LCTS 2019 data.

 Results from the consultation survey

No gaps have been identified.

9. Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

Not applicable

10. What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts

In the main, the impacts are either neutral or positive, with the overwhelming majority not being affected or 
gaining by the proposed change.

Page 46



5

However, there are a small number of losers. In every area where we collect data, the losers are broadly 
representative of the caseload as a whole. The losers are not disproportionately affected in any of the areas 
with protected characteristics.

The proposed change will also have positive impacts as small changes in income won’t result in 
unnecessary council tax bills or LCTS notification letters being issued.

Race Equality 

Ethnicity is not required as part of the LCTS claim process and data is not available. There may be a 
negative impact upon this protected group, as a number of customers may fall within this protected 
characteristic.

The LCTS customer profile is not disaggregated between different racial groups as this would not be 
relevant to the nature of the scheme. While this prevents an assessment of whether the proposed changes 
affect a greater proportion of people due to race, it does not affect the nature of the scheme; the scheme’s 
principles do not differentiate on the grounds of race and an individual’s race has no influence over the 
calculation of their entitlement. 

Although we have not considered the impact on race equality the Council will use the Discretionary Council 
Tax Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change.  

Disabled People

The eligibility criteria for the scheme have a differential impact between disabled and non-disabled 
customers. The applicable amount is enhanced for customers who receive certain disability benefits, so this 
is taken into account in the entitlement calculation.

All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of disability.

We have considered the impact on disabled people and the Council will use the Discretionary Council Tax 
Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change.  

Carers

The eligibility criteria for the scheme have a differential impact between carers and non-carers. The 
applicable amount is enhanced for customers who are carers, so this is taken into account in the entitlement 
calculation.

All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of whether they provide 
care.

Although we have considered the impact on carers the Council will use the Discretionary Council Tax 
Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change.  

Gender

The eligibility criteria for the scheme have no differential impact between working age male or working age 
female applicants. 

Gender is not relevant to the nature of the scheme. The scheme’s principles do not differentiate on the 
grounds of gender and an individual’s gender has no influence over the calculation of their entitlement. 

Page 47



6

Although we have not considered the impact of gender the Council will use the Discretionary Council Tax 
Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change. 
 
Age

The proposed changes will not affect people of pension age who are protected by Government under the 
LCTS scheme. The impacts are on working age customers only who receive UC.

The eligibility criteria for the scheme have a differential impact between working age customers of different 
ages. The applicable amount is enhanced for customers depending on their age, so this is taken into 
account in the entitlement calculation.

All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of age.

Although we have considered the impact on age the Council will use the Discretionary Council Tax Payment 
scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change.  

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

This is not required as part of the LCTS claim process and data is not available. There may be a negative 
impact upon this protected group, as a number of customers may fall within this protected characteristic.

The LCTS customer profile is not disaggregated between this group as this would not be relevant to the 
nature of the scheme. While this prevents an assessment of whether the proposed changes affect a greater 
proportion of people in this group, it does not affect the nature of the scheme; the scheme’s principles do not 
differentiate on these grounds and it has no influence over the calculation of their entitlement. 

Although we have not considered the impact on this group the Council will use the Discretionary Council Tax 
Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change.  

Sexual Orientation

Sexual orientation is not required as part of the LCTS claim process and data is not available. There may be 
a negative impact upon this protected group, as a number of customers may fall within this protected 
characteristic.

The LCTS customer profile is not disaggregated between different sexual orientations as this would not be 
relevant to the nature of the scheme. While this prevents an assessment of whether the proposed changes 
affect a greater proportion of people due to sexual orientation, it does not affect the nature of the scheme; 
the scheme’s principles do not differentiate on the grounds of sexual orientation and an individual’s sexual 
orientation has no influence over the calculation of their entitlement. 

Although we have not considered the impact on sexual orientation the Council will use the Discretionary 
Council Tax Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change.  

Gender Reassignment

Gender reassignment is not required as part of the LCTS claim process and data is not available. There may 
be a negative impact upon this protected group, as a number of customers may fall within this protected 
characteristic.

The LCTS customer profile is not disaggregated between gender reassignment as this would not be relevant 
to the nature of the scheme. While this prevents an assessment of whether the proposed changes affect a 
greater proportion of people due to gender reassignment, it does not affect the nature of the scheme; the 

Page 48



7

scheme’s principles do not differentiate on the grounds of gender reassignment and an individual’s gender 
reassignment has no influence over the calculation of their entitlement. 

Although we have not considered the impact on gender reassignment the Council will use the Discretionary 
Council Tax Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change. Each case will be 
considered on its own merits.

Religion or Belief

Religion or Belief is not required as part of the LCTS claim process and data is not available. There may be 
a negative impact upon this protected group, as a number of customers may fall within this protected 
characteristic.

The LCTS customer profile is not disaggregated between Religion or Belief as this would not be relevant to 
the nature of the scheme. While this prevents an assessment of whether the proposed changes affect a 
greater proportion of people due to Religion or Belief, it does not affect the nature of the scheme; the 
scheme’s principles do not differentiate on the grounds of Religion or Belief and an individual’s Religion or 
Belief has no influence over the calculation of their entitlement. 

Although we have not considered the impact on Religion or Belief the Council will use the Discretionary 
Council Tax Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change. Each case will be 
considered on its own merits.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave (before giving birth)

This is not required as part of the LCTS claim process and data is not available. There may be a negative 
impact upon this protected group, as a number of customers may fall within this protected characteristic.

The LCTS customer profile is not disaggregated between this group as this would not be relevant to the 
nature of the scheme. While this prevents an assessment of whether the proposed changes affect a greater 
proportion of people in this group, it does not affect the nature of the scheme; the scheme’s principles do not 
differentiate on these grounds and it has no influence over the calculation of their entitlement. 

Although we have not considered the impact on this group the Council will use the Discretionary Council Tax 
Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change. Each case will be considered on 
its own merits.
Those on Maternity Leave (after giving birth)

The eligibility criteria for the scheme have a differential impact with customers who have children. The 
applicable amount is enhanced for customers who have children, so this is taken into account in the 
entitlement calculation.

All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants.

Although we have considered the impact on people with children the Council will use the Discretionary 
Council Tax Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change. Each case will be 
considered on its own merits.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

The eligibility criteria for the scheme have a differential impact with customers who are married or in a civil 
partnership. The applicable amount is enhanced for these customers, so this is taken into account in the 
entitlement calculation.

Page 49



8

All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants.

Although we have considered the impact on people in these groups the Council will use the Discretionary 
Council Tax Payment scheme for anyone adversely impacted by the proposed change. Each case will be 
considered on its own merits.

11. What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

The change proposed will have a neutral or positive outcome for the majority of customers.

The LCTS caseload as of November is 21,842 and the number of those in receipt of working age UC 
currently 5,629. Currently, 275 customers will lose. This equates to 1.3% of all LCTS claims and 5.0% of 
those LCTS cases currently in receipt of UC. The overwhelming majority will not lose.

Of the 275 people who will lose out 46.5% are male and 53.5% are female. The Office of National Statistics 
indicates that Rochdale’s gender representation is 49.4% male and 50.6% female overall. These figures 
indicate that there isn’t a significant disproportionate impact between male and female.

A Discretionary Council Tax Payment scheme payment scheme is available to provide targeted financial 
support to customers who might lose out under the proposed changes.

Although the number of consultation responses was disappointingly low, of those that responded it was in 
favour of change. We also know that the current scheme for this customer group isn’t working well for them 
and is very inefficient.

In conclusion, we recommend the scheme is changed for 2020/21 for working age LCTS customers who 
receive UC.

12. What are your recommendations?

Cabinet is being asked to consider and agree whether the scheme should remain unchanged or be 
amended for 2020/21 with the introduction of a banded income scheme for customers who receive UC.

We recommend that Cabinet agree to change the scheme for 2020/21 and request that Council ratify the 
decision.

13. What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.

This policy will be reviewed annually, taking into account Council policies and priorities and any changes in 
legislation.

Signed (Completing Officer):        Date: 6 November 2019

Signed (Head of Service):         Date: 6 November 2019

Page 50



Appendix A

Comments from consultation responses

Yes, I am sick of working hard to support my family and getting nothing back, and then this scheme pops up and the people who 
don’t work hard get another benefit.  Completely unfair and wrong on all levels.  Make more effort to support the people who work 
and stop penalising us.
"Consider going back to the old system and pay 100% CTS for claimants on benefits, this will prevent costs on the Council trying to 
collect taxes from a claimant who his getting the minimum in benefits and unable to afford the 15% they have to try and find to pay.
This will then prevent summons costs which could increase a debt of a payer/claimant who is already financially struggling with 
debt."
My wage changes weekly sometimes it could be by £10 sometimes it could be more or less depending on the hours given to me 
but my contract is 16 and I think you should maybe work it on monthly rather than weekly
"Currently have on going claim for c Tax Benefit. In the last 4 weeks had a bonus from my employer in spite of being on long term 
sick for the past 13 months. My benefit has been recalculated asking me to pay £100 for the next 7 months! 
I will be getting universal Credit this month. Will my Council Tax Benefit be reviewed again?  The letter I was sent made no 
indication of this."
Don't keep changing my bill, keep it the same and review after 6 months or something.
You should not have different rules for Universal Credit. The scheme should be the same for all cases. It is quite frankly 
discrimination.
This is an efficient way of doing things all round, less messing about sending out letters over every little change, less time wasted 
ringing up chasing by any applicants as well.
I work irregular hours and my income varies quite a bit. It's really frustrating to continually receive council tax bills asking me to pay 
different amounts. This new scheme should improve this
You need to consider disabled people on no income and how they will be affected by the changes. Council tax is very high for 
disabled jobless people.
I am a single mum who works full time to provide for myself and my child and have to pay full council tax. I get fed up of working so 
hard to help others who dont work. Those who dont pay council tax still benefit from the services provided. How about some help 
for the hard working single mums? In work poverty exists but is not addressed.
My earnings change regularly and I can't cope with getting lots of bills and letters. It's really confusing and I don't know what I need 
to pay
I've bin told I won't getting so mani bill

P
age 51



I work for an agency and get Universal Credit. I've had so many council tax bills this year I've lost track were I'm up to.  Every bill 
seems to get bigger and I'm now struggling to pay on low wages. ANYTHING has got to be better than whats happening now.
I believe that help should be available to all people, not just those on benefits! I earn just above the banding therefore not eligible 
for any assistance of any kind, however still expected to pay full amounts for everything, of which I do every month and on time. We 
still struggle each month because how can we save to help ourselves when we pay so much in various types of tax? Its no wonder 
that so many are forced to remain on benefits because for some, they would actually be worse off financially if they went to work full 
time! I'm not saying that we shouldn't help those who really need it who are already on benefits because they need the assistance, 
however please remember families that are earning just above the bands you have set out because to be honest, they are the ones 
who are working the hardest to make ends meet.
Can I not get my rent paid by you to, I don't like the monthly paid by uc just want it simple all round
I can't afford to pay my Council Tax and need as much help as i can get so more help if posible.
I think the new scheme is an excellent idea. I don't think the existing scheme is fit for purpose for Universal Credit claimant's whose 
income changes on a monthly basis.  I think the new scheme would have a positive effect on the council tax collection rate as 
customer's with only minor changes wouldn't have their bills re-calculated every month.
"I don't receive Council Tax Support but I help one of my relatives to manage her finances and she does get Council Tax Support.  
She's a single person and because her income changes quite a bit but mainly only by a few pounds  she get's a lot of bills for her 
Council Tax and they are all different with different amounts to pay.  
It's really hard to follow all this and we sometimes don't know from one month to the next what she'll have to pay and how much 
she has left to spend.  
I think she's probably now behind because there has been two months this year that she hasn't paid anything because she the bills 
she gets have said she didn't owe anything for that month.  
I'm worried that we'll get to the end of the year and she might get one big bill and there's no way she could afford to pay if she does. 
From what I've read about the changes it looks like this would put a stop to this and she would get a lot fewer bills and have a 
steady amount to pay each month.  That can only be a good thing for her (and if I'm honest for me as well when I'm helping her)."

P
age 52



Report to Council

Date of Meeting 18th December 2019
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Keith Mackenzie
Public/Private Document Public

Council Tax Empty Property Charges

Executive Summary

1. This report seeks approval to increase the council tax empty property premium 
from 100% to 200% with effect from 1 April 2020 for properties that have been 
empty in excess of 5 years.

Recommendation

2. Council is recommended to approve the empty property premium increase.

Reason for Recommendation

3. In April 2013, Government gave local authorities power to determine the level 
of empty property discounts in dwelling classes B, C and D (Section 12 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 2012). The power included an option to charge 
a premium of up to 50% where a property has been empty in excess of two 
years. The Council decided to introduce a 50% premium with effect from 1 
April 2013 and increased this to 100% with effect from 1 April 2019.

From 1 April 2020, Government is increasing the optional maximum empty 
property premium charge to 200% for properties that have been empty in 
excess of 5 years.

With effect from 1 April 2021, Government is also increasing the optional 
maximum empty property premium charge to 300% for properties that have 
been empty in excess of 10 years.

Key Points for Consideration

4. In April 2013, there were 552 properties in the Rochdale borough which were
subject to the empty property premium charge; this has reduced to 238 by
November 2019, 95 of which have been empty in excess of 5 years.

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



4.1

The charging of a premium is part of the Council’s overall strategy of bringing 
long-term empty homes back into use at the earliest opportunity.

Long-term empty homes have a negative impact on surrounding homes and 
areas, and while tackling empty homes will not provide a solution to the need 
for new homes, it is an important part of making best use of the existing 
housing stock.

Other benefits include:
 Improving housing conditions and reducing anti-social behaviour in the 

vicinity of the empty properties.
 Reducing pressure on the existing housing stock.
 Providing opportunities for local suppliers in the property and 

construction trades, and on a larger scale can support training and 
employment by local companies carrying out any necessary renovation 
and building work.

On implementation of the Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and 
Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018, Local Government Minister, Rishi 
Sunak, said: “It is simply wrong that, while there are 200,000 long-term empty 
properties across the country, thousands of families are desperate for a 
secure place to call home.”

“This new power will equip councils with the tools they need to encourage 
owners of long-term empty properties to bring them back into use – and at the 
same time tackle the harmful effect they have on communities through 
squatting, vandalism and anti-social behaviour.”

Alternatives Considered

The empty property premium could remain at 100%. However, Government 
has identified that additional measures are needed to continue the 
improvements already made and have amended the legislation. 

Of the 238 properties that are currently subject to the premium, 61 have been 
empty in excess of 5 years and a further 34 in excess of 10 years, so there are 
still problems locally that need to be addressed and the 100% premium isn’t 
working in these cases. 

The 95 long-term empty properties that have been empty in excess of 5 years 
and the other 143 that have been empty more than 2 years are causing 
problems in their communities and adding pressure on the overall housing 
stock.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. This change is expected to raise an additional £125,000 in council tax income 
in 2020/21. This amount reflects the fact that this measure should help to 
further reduce the overall number of long-term empty properties.

Risk and Policy Implications

Page 54



There is a risk that some owners may refuse to pay the increased premium 
charge, but there are adequate legislative powers in place to enforce 
collection. These include Charging Orders, forcing sale or Compulsory 
Purchase Orders.

6.

Consultation

7. No consultation is required. However, the owners of these 95 properties are 
already known to officers and contact will be made with them to advise of the 
change and to promote some of things the Council can offer to assist them in 
bringing the property back into use.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Keith Mackenzie: Tel: 01706 926003 
Keith.Mackenzie@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Page 55



Document is Restricted

Page 56

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 60

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Committee Calendar 2020/2021
	Append. 1 for Committee Calendar 2020/2021

	5 Corporate Plan 2019 - 2022
	EIA Initial Screening for Corporate Plan Sept 2019
	Corporate Plan Final for Council

	6 2020/21 Council Tax Taxbase
	7 2020/21 Setting of the Business Rate Base
	8 2020/21 Local Council Tax Support Scheme
	Appendix B - Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix A

	9 Council Tax Empty Property Charges
	11 Waste Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement
	Append. 1 for Waste Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement


